FILED DECEMBER 15, 2014 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

NO. 32587-3-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
V.
BENJAMIN CHILDS
Appellant.
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR ASOTIN COUNTY
The Honorable Scott Gallina, Judge
BRIEF OF APPELLANT
IENNIEER I DORSON

JENNIFER L. DOBSON DANA M. NELSON Attorneys for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Appellant was denied effective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to renew a motion to sever which the trial court had erroneously denied prior to trial and failed to request an instruction informing the jury that each charge is to be considered separately.
- 2. The trial court erred when it ordered appellant to pay discretionary legal financial obligations (LFOs) without first considering his ability to pay.¹
- 3. The trial court erred in ordering no contact with the complainant as part of appellant's sentence without specifying the duration of the no contact order.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Appellant's two cases were tried jointly. The first case involved one count of second degree assault and one count of burglary. The other case involved one count of second degree assault and one count of witness tampering. The cases involved different complainants, different weapons, dissimilar locations, and no common motive or plan. The incidents took place six days

¹ Appellant does not challenge the mandatory financial obligations imposed.

apart. Before trial, defense counsel moved to sever the cases. The trial court denied the motion. Counsel did not renew the motion to sever at trial and failed to request an instruction that informed the jury it had to consider the charges separately. Where the consolidation of these matters allowed the jury to unfairly cumulate the evidence against appellant and improperly diluted appellant's defenses, was defense counsel ineffective for failing to renew the motion to sever and failing to request an instruction indicating the jury must consider the charges separately?

- 2. Did the trial court fail to comply with RCW 10.01.160(3) when it imposed discretionary LFOs as part of appellant's sentence, thereby making the LFO order erroneous and challengeable for the first time on appeal?
- 3. Where appellant's Judgment and Sentence includes a no-contact provision but does not also include a specified duration or expiration date, is the sentence insufficiently definite?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

On November 8, 2013, the Asotin County prosecutor charged appellant Benjamin Childs with one count of burglary

under cause number 13-1-00182-1. CP 1-2. The alleged victim in that case was Ron Perrigo. CP 1-2.

On December 2, 2013, the information was amended to include one count of second degree assault against Perrigo. CP 24-25. A second count of second degree assault was also added. CP 24-25. The alleged victim was Michael Provost. CP 24-25. This charge included a deadly weapon enhancement. CP 24-25.

On January 24, 2014, at the State's request, the assault against Provost count was severed from the other charges and filed under cause number 14-1-00009-1. CP 34,168-169. The prosecutor filed a second amended information under cause number 13-1-00182-1, charging only the burglary and assault pertaining to Perrigo. CP 26-27.

The cases were set for trial in late February, but the trials were delayed after Childs made a particular jail call to his family. CP 34. On March 10, 2014, the State added a witness tampering charge to the information filed under cause number 14-1-00009-1. CP 177-78. The State then moved to consolidate all the charges against Childs and join the cases for trial. CP __ (sub. 18 "Motion to Consolidate").

Defense counsel objected to consolidation and countered with a motion to keep the cases severed. She explained the defense would be unduly prejudiced if the cases were heard together, because the accumulation of evidence would unfairly add strength to the State's individual cases, which were weak standing alone. CP 32-36. Defense counsel also explained she had prepared defenses for separate trials based on the State's decision to separate the cases, and the persuasiveness of the defenses would be undermined in a consolidated context. CP 32-36.

On May 17, 2014, Judge Scott Marinella heard argument on the motions. RP 5-11. He granted the State's motion to consolidate and denied Childs' motion to keep the cases severed. RP 11-12. In so ruling, Judge Marinella noted:

I understand the cumulative evidence concerns, and that's where the court comes into the -- the appropriate jury instructions, and the instructions to the jury that just because they have multiple counts, you have to find these individually. So I think there is a proper recourse here.

RP 12. The Defense moved for revision, but Judge William Acey upheld the ruling. RP 24-29; CP 32-38, 42.

The case went to trial with Judge Scott Gallina presiding.

RP 30. Defense counsel failed to renew the motion for severance

and failed to procure a limiting instruction telling the jury it must decide each count separately. CP 79-102. A jury found Childs guilty as charged. CP 103-04; 182-84.

At sentencing, the State asked the trial court to run appellant's sentences consecutively because his high offender score left some crimes unpunished. RP 449-51.

In response, defense counsel asked for a standard range sentence with concurrent sentences. RP 545. She argued that Childs was already prejudiced by the joinder of the cases so the State should not be allowed to separate them out for sentencing. RP 451-53. Specifically, counsel stated:

They separated the cases out. Then we have an end run where for some reason they decided they wanted to put the cases back together again. And I fully believe that was because they didn't have evidence in one case and they needed to have the other case [to] support the first. And I do believe, I do believe that was to the disadvantage of Mr. Childs.

I still to this day believe that if the cases were tried separately that at least one of those cases he would have been acquitted on.

RP 451-52.

Responding to this argument, Judge Gallina stated:

I was present, not as a judge, during the pretrial phase of this, but I – remember sitting here watching it and questioning some things that went on myself. Those are questions to be answered by another court

on another day. Right now I am bound to administer a sentence in accordance with Washington state law

RP 465.

Under cause number 13-1-00182-1, Childs was sentenced to 100 months for the burglary charge to run concurrent with the assault charge. CP 157-58. Under cause number 14-100009-1, Childs was sentenced to sixty months on each count to run concurrently. CP 188-89. A 12-month enhancement was imposed, for a total sentence of 72. CP 188. The trial court then stacked the 100-month sentence on top of the 72-month sentence, for a total of 172 months. CP 188.

Childs was also ordered to pay LFOs. CP 159,190. These included (for each case): \$750 for appointed representation; and a \$500 fine. CP 159,190. At sentencing, there was no discussion, inquiry, or findings regarding appellant's ability to pay. RP 448-468.

Childs was also ordered to have no contact with Michael Provost. CP 192. However, the Judgment and Sentence fails to include a specific term for the no contact order. CP 192. This appeal follows. CP 165-66.

2. Substantive Facts

(i) The Perrigo Incident

On November 5, 2013, at approximately 8:30 p.m., Clarkston Police Officer Michael Babino responded to the home of Rob Perrigo. RP 76-77. When he arrived, he found Perrigo dousing his face with a garden hose. RP 77. Perrigo's face was red and he was coughing. RP 79. He had mucus running from his nose and mouth. RP 79. Perrigo told Babino he had been sprayed with bear mace. RP 78.

At trial, Perrigo claimed that Childs came to his door that evening looking for Perrigo's cousin Amber Haning. RP 41. Haning was temporarily residing with Perrigo along with Childs' sister Cherokee Escallier. RP 41, 228. Haning and Childs were a couple, but Perrigo claimed they were fighting at the time. RP 40-41. Witnesses testified Perrigo often acted sexually infatuated with Haning. RP 250, 294.

According to Perrigo, after he refused to let Childs into his house, Perrigo tried to shut the door, but Childs pushed it partially open and sprayed bear mace across the door and into Perrigo's face. RP 41-42, 69.

After calling the police, Perrigo called Escallier and Haning to report what Childs had supposedly done. RP 238, 288. They went to Perrigo's house. RP 238. They observed the inside of the house had been exposed to mace to such a degree they could hardly breath in there. RP 238, 289. The substance was all the way back in the bedrooms and kitchen. RP 289. However, Haning observed there was no mace on the outside of the front door. RP 289.

Haning said she had left her own can of bear mace on her dresser that day, but she has never seen it since then. RP 291. Haning saw Childs later that night and said there was no indication he had been exposed to bear mace. RP 296.

At trial, Childs' little brother, Jarryd Von Tersch, testified Childs was with him the night of the incident. RP 328. He said Childs arrived about 7:00 p.m. and they watched T.V. and then surfed the internet. RP 328-29. He testified that Childs was at the house the entire night except from 10:30 to midnight. RP 330.

After Perrigo alleged Childs maced him, he became fixated on Childs. RP 268. He bought a BB gun that looked like a real gun. RP 50. One day, he shot at the car Haning and Escallier were riding in. RP 298-300. Perrigo claimed Childs had jumped

out of the trunk and threatened him, but no one corroborated this. RP 49, 241, 298. Instead, Haning's child and a different friend were in the car. RP 298. No one had gotten out of the car or threatened Perrigo. RP 299.

Perrigo was arrested and charged with assault for that incident. RP 48, 73-74. While in jail, Perrigo stated to two inmates that he thought Childs was a bad guy and that is why he did what he did. RP 335-36; 348. The inmates interpreted this to mean Perrigo had set Childs up by making false accusations. RP 337, 349.

(ii) The Provost Incident

On November 11, 2013, at approximately 2:50 a.m., Asotin sheriff deputy Jesse Carpenter was dispatched to Michael Provost's home. RP 159-60. He found Provost holding his head with a towel and observed a superficial wound that was bleeding. RP 160-61. There was also a broken lamp on the floor. RP 135, 146.

Provost told Carpenter he had been struck over the head with a machete. RP 162. Carpenter observed that Provost's wound was not consistent with being struck with the sharp end of a

machete. RP 177. Instead, it was consistent with being struck with a blunt object. RP 177.

Provost claimed that Childs struck him over the head after he permitted Childs and Haning to come in the house to warm up. RP 105-06. He said they claimed they were out of gas. RP 105-06.

Provost knew Haning as a former tenant. RP 104. Provost also knew Childs as a result of Provost's own drug use. RP 126, 142. Just a month prior to the alleged incident, Childs had stiffed Provost on a drug deal – taking his money but providing no drugs. RP 126-31; 141, 144. However, Provost was not forthcoming with this information until forced by defense counsel to reveal it. RP 126-31.

Haning testified she was not at Provost's home that evening. RP 303. She said she was with Childs at his mother's birthday party, where they went to one of the bedrooms in that house, had sex, and then slept through the night together. RP 304-06. Childs' sister Eshaniah McGahuey testified she saw Haning and Childs at the house that night when she got up to go to the bathroom in the middle of the night. RP 318-21. She said Childs was also there in the morning. RP 318-21.

On February 20, 2014, Childs made a call to his mother's home from jail. RP 190-93. During the call, he told his sister that Provost needed to "be high as fuck" on Monday (the day before Childs' upcoming trial). He told his sister to have someone get Provost high. RP 223. This call formed the entire evidentiary basis of the witness tampering charge. CP 177-78. Childs' defense was that he was just joking and never intended for anyone to take him seriously. RP 427-30. There was no evidence that any one had actually approached Provost or attempted to get him high. RP 223, 227.

C. ARGUMENT

I. CHILDS WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE
OF COUNSEL BECAUSE COUNSEL FAILED TO
RENEW THE MOTION TO SEVER DURING TRIAL
AND FAILED TO REQUEST A LIMITING
INSTRUCTION.

Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to renew the severance motion during trial. A renewed severance motion would likely have been granted, and there is a reasonable probability that the outcomes of separate trials would have been different. Additionally, counsel was ineffective for not seeking the necessary limiting instruction informing the jury it was to consider the charges separately.

The federal and Washington constitutions guarantee the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend 6; Const. art. 1 § 22. A defendant is denied the right and is entitled to reversal of his convictions when his attorney's conduct (1) falls below a minimum objective standard of reasonable attorney conduct, and (2) there is a reasonable probability that the outcome would be different but for the attorney's conduct. State v. Doogan, 82 Wn. App. 185, 188-89, 917 P.2d 155 (1996) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)). The defendant "need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome of the case." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. A reasonable probability is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the case.

Counsel's performance in not renewing her motion for severance was objectively unreasonable. Severance of charges is important when there is a risk that the jury will use the evidence of one crime to infer the defendant's guilt for another crime or to infer a general criminal disposition. <u>State v. Russell</u>, 125 Wn.2d 24, 62–63, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).

CrR 4.4 governs severance of counts in a criminal trial. Counts that are properly joined may be severed "to promote a fair determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence of each offense." CrR 4.4(b). A defendant's motion to sever "must be made before trial, except that a motion for severance may be made before or at the close of all the evidence if the interests of justice require." CrR 4.4(a)(1). A pretrial severance motion denied by the court may be renewed up until the close of all the evidence. CrR 4.4(a)(2). Failing to renew an unsuccessful severance motion constitutes a waiver. State v. Henderson, 48 Wn. App. 543, 545, 551, 740 P.2d 329 (1987).

Joinder is "inherently prejudicial." <u>State v. Ramirez</u>, 46 Wn. App. 223, 226, 730 P.2d 98 (1986). A defendant may be prejudiced by having to present separate defenses, the jury may use evidence of one or more of the charged crimes to infer a criminal disposition, or the jury may cumulate evidence of the charges and find guilt when, if considered separately, it would not. <u>State v. Harris</u>, 36 Wn. App. 746, 750, 677 P.2d 202 (1984).

The record in this case reflects no legitimate strategic or tactical reason for counsel's failure to move for a severance at trial.

As evidenced by counsel's pretrial motions and counsel's statements

during sentencing affirming her belief the trial court's refusal to sever the cases led to an unmerited guilty verdict, trial counsel was well aware of the significant prejudice inherent in the joinder of the charges. RP 452; CP 32-38.

Counsel had an opportunity to have the issue looked at by a new judge who just may have seen the issue differently, especially after presiding over trial. As was later revealed by Judge Gallina's statements at sentencing, he had questioned some of the pretrial joinder/severance actions and might have been open to reconsidering the decision. RP 465. There is no legitimate justification for trial counsel's failure to renew the motion to sever before Judge Gallina.

Trial counsel's failure to request a limiting instruction also cannot be justified as a legitimate trial tactic. It is well established through case law that instructing the jury to consider the counts separately is critical to limiting the prejudice inherent in joining charges. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>State v. Sutherby</u>, 165 Wn.2d 870, 885, 204 P.3d 916 (2009). Moreover, based on Judge Marinella's statements, trial counsel was specifically placed on notice that such an instruction was critical to preventing the jury from unfairly cumulating evidence to Childs' detriment.

Nothing happened during trial to mitigate the prejudice counsel anticipated when bringing the motion in the first place. Thus, there was no reasonable trial strategy that would lead counsel to abandon the motion to sever offenses or to fail to request the necessary limiting instruction. Counsel simply neglected to renew the motion as required by the rules and neglected to insure the proper limiting instruction was given. State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009) (counsel has a duty to know the relevant law); State v. Carter, 56 Wn. App. 217, 224, 783 P.2d 589 (1989) (counsel is presumed to know court rules). Such neglect demonstrates deficient performance. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 887.

Where counsel's failure to litigate a motion to sever is objectively unreasonable – as here – prejudice is demonstrated by showing the motion should have been granted, and that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the proceeding likely would have been different. <u>Id.</u>

In determining whether to sever charges, the trial court considers (1) the strength of the State's evidence on each count; (2) the clarity of defenses as to each count; (3) whether the court instructs the jury to consider each count separately; and (4) the admissibility of evidence of the other charges even if not joined for

trial. <u>Sutherby</u>, 165 Wn.2d at 884-85. In light of the evidence presented at trial, and after proper application of the four severance factors, this record demonstrates the trial court likely would have granted a renewed motion for severance and the outcome in at least one of the cases would have been different.

First, the strength of State's case as to Perrigo was minimal. The case was unfairly strengthened by consolidation. There were no eyewitnesses. There was no physical evidence implicating Childs. There was evidence Perrigo had a motive to set Childs up, because he was infatuated with Childs' girlfriend and wanted to drive a wedge between them. Two witnesses testified Perrigo suggested to them that he had falsely set Childs up. Moreover, Childs also offered an alibi witness. Standing alone, this case left room for reasonable doubt.

The strength of the State's evidence as to the Provost assault charge, standing alone, was also minimal. There was no eyewitness to corroborate Provost's testimony. There was no physical evidence implicating Childs. Provost's wound was inconsistent with the alleged weapon. Provost had been deceitful about his prior attempted drug deal with Childs – a fact that provided a motive for him to frame Childs. Childs had multiple alibi

witnesses. However, there was one factor that strengthened the Provost assault charge – the witness tampering charge.

Evidence of witness tampering is relevant and admissible to establish a consciousness of guilt. <u>State v. Sanders</u>, 66 Wn. App. 878, 833 P.2d 452 (1992). Childs' alleged tampering was aimed at Provost alone. Thus, the facts pertaining to the witness tampering would be relevant and admissible in a trial on the Provost assault, arguably indicating Childs' guilty conscious.

By contrast, there was no witness tampering charge to bolster the strength of the Perrigo charge. Indeed, the jury would have never heard about it because that charge was irrelevant to the facts of that case, and because Childs' never testified. Thus, if the cases had been severed, the jury for the Perrigo charges would not have been permitted to consider the tampering charge. Given that the cases were consolidated, and the jury was never instructed to consider the charges separately, however, there is a high likelihood that the jury wrongly applied the consciousness of guilt evidence when determining guilt as to all the charges. This was wrong.

The trial court's denial of the motion to sever allowed the jury to cumulate evidence such that the State's weak case as to the Perrigo charges was unfairly strengthened. See State v.

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