FILED

MARCH 16, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 32587-3-III

IN THE COURT OF THE APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

٧.

BENJAMIN CHILDS, Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MATT L. NEWBERG Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA #36674

P. O. Box 820 Pomeroy, WA 99347 (509) 843-3082

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

weaker count. *Bythrow*, 114 Wn. 2d at 721–22. (citing *Smith*, 74 Wn. 2d at 755). Because the State's cases were equally strong, the trial judge would have ruled against severance on this factor.

The next mitigation factor the court would have considered in determining severance, is the clarity of the defenses as to each count. As to the separate assaults in this case, the defenses were clear. The Defendant had the same defense for each assault: 1) alibi and 2) each victim had a motive to fabricate allegations against him. There is little likelihood of confusion where the defendant's defenses are identical on each charge. Russell, 125 Wn. 2d at 64. Even antagonistic defenses have been found to be insufficient to justify severance. In order for antagonistic defenses to result in prejudice, the defenses must be so mutually exclusive to the point that one must be believed if the other is disbelieved. State v. McKinzy, 72 Wn.App. 85, 90, 863 P.2d 594 (1993). The defenses in this case were clear and were not such that the jury would have to disbelieve one in order to believe the other. For these reasons, the trial court would have favored denial of the motion to sever based on this second factor.

A third factor the court would consider is the instructions to the jury. Typically, WPIC 3.01 would be appropriate in a case where one defendant is charged with multiple offenses. WPIC 3.01 reads: "A separate crime is charged in each count. You must decide each count

separately. Your verdict on one count should not control your verdict on [any] [the]other count." This jury instruction has been found to be sufficient to guard against possible prejudice to the defendant from the failure of the defendant's attorney to renew a motion to sever offenses. State v. Standifer, 48 Wn.App. 121, 737 P.2d 1308 (1987). Unfortunately, this instruction was omitted in this trial. (Because the defense did not propose such an instruction, they should not now complain that it was not given.)

This review is limited to how the court would have considered jury instructions as a way to reduce prejudice *had* the motion to sever been renewed. Had the motion to sever been renewed, the trial court would have undoubtedly found that WPIC 3.01 to be sufficient to reduce prejudice (pursuant to *Standifer*), and would have included said instruction to the jury. This presumption weighs on the side that the trial court would have denied the motion to sever.

In the alternative, the jury instructions as provided were sufficient. WPIC 3.01 merely requires the jury *deliberate* on each count separately. *State v. Bradford,* 60 Wn.App. 857, at 861, 808 P.2d 174 (1991). It does not instruct the jury how to compartmentalize evidence as to each count, or limit the use of evidence to specific allegations. There was no specific argument at or before trial as to limitation of evidence, and therefore no limiting instructions were

proposed. However, the general instructions provided to the jury were sufficient in mitigating any prejudice of the consolidated cases. The general instruction provided at the end of trial stated: "In order to decide whether any proposition has been proved, you must consider all of the evidence that I have admitted that relates to the proposition." RP 369 referring to WPIC 1.02. Furthermore, the jury was given separate "to-convict" instructions for each count setting forth the specific elements the jury had to find beyond a reasonable doubt.

The Defendant's trial lasted only three days. The issues were simple, did the jury believe the Defendant assaulted the victims based on the testimony of the eyewitnesses. When a trial is short, and the issues simple, a jury can be reasonably expected to compartmentalize the evidence. *Bythrow,* 114 Wn. 2d at 721. It was not a particularly complicated task to keep the testimony and evidence separate. In closing argument, the prosecutor used each "to convict" instruction to associate the evidence with the specific criminal charge. In addition, the judge allowed the jurors to use notebooks to help them keep track of the evidence. Because the Defendant raised the same defenses to both assaults, the jurors would not be confused in that regard. See *State v. Hernandez,* 58 Wn.App. 793, 799, 794 P.2d 1327 (1990). *disapproved on other grounds by State v. Kjorsvik,* 117 Wn.2d 93, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). At no time did the prosecutor argue that the jury

should consider evidence from the Provost assault to convict the Defendant of the Perrigo assault, and vice versa.

The jury instructions given, in conjunction with the manner in which the evidence was argued, favor a mitigation of prejudice and the trial court's denial of a renewed motion to sever.

Finally, the trial court would consider whether the evidence presented at trial was cross-admissible on each count. Russell, 125 Wn. 2d at 63. A number of witnesses, who testified at trial, testified as to both the Perrigo and Provost incidents. Evidence that was relevant to both cases included testimony from: Amber Haning; Cherokee Escallier; Jarryd Vontersch; and Eshaniah Vontersch. The testimony from these witnesses' laid the framework for the relationships between the Defendant and the victims. The common witnesses developed one continuous timeline from prior to the assault on Perrigo through the day of the assault on Provost. The common witnesses completed the one story of the relationship between Amber Haning and the Defendant. A bulk of the cross-admissible evidence had to do with matters other than one assault being introduced in reference to a second assault. However, the evidence of misconduct or other crimes is admissible when it "complete[s] the crime story." ER 404(b); State v. Hughes, 118 Wn.App. 713, 725, 77 P.3d 681 (2003); see State v. Mutchler, 53 Wn.App. 898, 901, 771 P.2d 1168 (1989). Combining the Rick Perrigo assault with the Michael Provost attack, was necessary to present the "complete crime story."

The assaults themselves were also cross-admissible as 'other bad acts' because such evidence was admissible for a purpose such as proof of motive. ER 404(b). One motive for the Defendant's assaults on these other men is the fact that the Defendant is the defender/protector of his girlfriend, Amber Haning. Haning, and Escallier testified that they believed Perrigo wanted to pursue Haning romantically. As a jealous boyfriend, the Defendant had motive to keep Perrigo from moving in on his love interest. In addition, Haning testified that the Defendant was trying to get back together with her. It could be inferred that he was doing acts to try to win her back. Haning was upset during this time that she was again being evicted. RP 261. One act of valor would be to punish the man that had previously evicted his love, trashed her belongings and killed her dog.

The similar defenses were also cross-admissible as they were used to question Haning's bias and credibility as a defense (alibi) witness.

ER 404(b) prohibits using evidence of other acts to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity with that character. *Smith*, 106 Wn. 2d at 775. But, at no time during trial was it argued that the Defendant was a "bad guy"; nor that because

he committed one assault, he must have committed the second. While the joint trial allowed the jury to hear cases about two separate assaults, there was no cumulating of evidence as propensity was not argued. The two assaults were separated sufficiently in character that it would not be reasonable to argue that a person who would confront another face to face and spray that person with pepper spray, would be likely to sneak up behind a second person and hit them in the back of the head with a machete.

While it is clear that these two incidents were sufficiently linked, cross admissibility of the evidence is not required for joinder. State v. Kalakosky, 121 Wn. 2d 525, at 538, 852 P.2d 1064 (1993). See also: Gatalski, 40 Wn.App. at 609-10 (declining to hold or imply that severance is required in every case where evidence of one count would not be admissible in separate trial of other counts), review denied, 104 Wn.2d 1019 (1985); State v. Markle, 118 Wn. 2d 424, 439, 823 P.2d 1101 (1992) (the trial court need not sever counts just because evidence is not cross admissible); and Bythrow, 114 Wn. 2d at 720 (even if separate counts would not be cross-admissible in separate proceedings, this does not as a matter of law state sufficient basis for the requisite showing by the defense that undue prejudice would result from a joint trial). Pursuant to the liberal rule towards joinder, Washington's appellate courts have held that offenses that

only share some characteristics are properly joined even if the charges do not have any common witnesses and would not be cross-admissible in separate trials. See e.g., Smith, 74 Wn. 2d 744.

The fourth mitigating factor regarding mitigated prejudice would have also supported the trial court's denial of a renewed motion to sever.

On balance, severance was not necessary because any potential prejudice due to a consolidated trial, was significantly ameliorated. The strength of the State's cases was equally strong; the defenses were clear; the evidence was easy for a jury to compartmentalize along with the appropriate jury instructions; and the evidence was sufficiently cross admissible. Any residual prejudice cannot be said to have been so manifestly prejudicial so as to warrant severance of the cases.

The record as a whole demonstrates that counsel represented the defendant aggressively and effectively. Before trial, defense counsel argued the severance issue multiple times, and it was not likely that a third attempt would have changed the result of the trial. The Defendant has failed to show sufficient prejudice, that but for counsel's deficient performance, it is probable the results of trial would have been different.

Failure to Propose Jury Instruction

The Defendant also argues that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to propose WPIC 3.01. To establish ineffective assistance based on counsel's failure to request a jury instruction, the defendant must show that he was entitled to the instruction, counsel was deficient in failing to request it, and failure to request the instruction caused prejudice. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687; *State v. Johnston*, 143 Wn.App. 1, 21, 177 P.3d 1127 (2007). Prejudice occurs when there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the case would have differed. *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 335. Again, this Court employs a strong presumption that counsel's representation was effective. *Id.*

Defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel must fail because he cannot demonstrate prejudice. Although WPIC 3.01 was not provided, it simply would have informed the jury to *deliberate* on each count separately. *Bradford*, 60 Wn.App. at 861. The potential prejudice alleged, is speculation that the jury *could have* considered evidence from one case in deliberation of the joined case. WPIC 3.01 does not specifically tell the jury how it may use the evidence. However, the general instructions provided to the jury were sufficient to insure that each count was considered separately. The general instruction provided at the end of trial stated: "In order to decide

whether any proposition has been proved, you must consider all of the evidence that I have admitted that relates to the proposition." RP 369 referring to WPIC 1.02. CP 80-81. The jury was given separate "to convict" instructions for each count setting forth the specific elements the jury had to find beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 87, 87, 90, 93. In addition, the jury was provided a separate verdict form for each charge. CP 103-104, 182-184. These instructions sufficiently instructed the jury that the crimes were to be considered independently of one another. Thus, any error in failing to provide WPIC 3.01 was harmless.

As stated before, when a trial is short and the issues simple, a jury can be reasonably expected to compartmentalize the evidence. *Bythrow*, 114 Wn. 2d at 721. It was not difficult for the jury to keep the testimony and evidence separate. The prosecutor used the "to convict" instructions to organize the evidence as to each criminal charge. Jurors also used notebooks to help keep track of the evidence. Because the Defendant raised the same defense to both assaults, the jurors would not be confused in that regard. *See Hernandez*, 58 Wn.App. at 799. At no time did the prosecutor argue that the jury should consider evidence from the Provost assault to

convict the Defendant of the Perrigo assault, and vice versa.5

The jury instructions given, in conjunction with the manner in which the evidence was argued, sufficiently limited any prejudice towards the Defendant.

The Defendant cannot establish a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different had the trial court given WPIC 3.01. Accordingly, his ineffective assistance of counsel claim must fail.

B. <u>Defendant's challenge to imposition of legal financial</u>
obligations is not ripe for challenge.

For the first time on appeal, the Defendant contends that the trial court erred in finding that he had the ability to pay legal financial obligations without conducting any inquiry into his financial circumstances.

Whenever a person is convicted in superior court, the court may order the payment of legal financial obligations as part of the sentence. RCW 9.94A.760(1). Courts may impose costs as part of the legal financial obligations if a defendant has or will have the ability to pay. RCW 10.01.160(3). Before making such a finding, the trial court

⁵ In closing Defense agreed: "... as the state has gone through these

must "[take] into account the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden" imposed by the LFOs. *State v. Baldwin*, 63 Wn.App. 303, 312, 818 P.2d 1116 (1991). This court reviews a trial court's determination of an offender's financial resources and ability to pay for clear error. *Id.*

Three of the LFOs at issue in the Defendant's sentence are mandatory. The \$500 victim assessment is required by RCW 7.68.035, irrespective of ability to pay. *State v. Curry*, 62 Wn.App. 676, 681, 814 P.2d 1252 (1991), *aff'd*, 118 Wn.2d 911, 829 P.2d 166 (1992). The \$100 DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) collection fee is required by RCW 43.43.7541. And the \$200 criminal filling fee is required by RCW 36.18.020(2)(h). Because these LFOs are mandatory, they do not require the trial court to consider the Defendant's ability to pay.

The only discretionary LFO's imposed in this case were the \$1,500 appointed counsel recoupment fee and the \$1,000 fine. However, the Defendant did not object at sentencing to the finding of his current or likely future ability to pay. Of these two figures, the only "cost" as referenced by RCW 10.01.160 and *Baldwin, supra,* is the court appointed attorney recoupment. The fine of \$1,000 is authorized by RCW 9.94A.550, which states within all sentences under RCW

cases individually I do believe that is an accurate way to do this."

9.94A, the court may impose a fine of up to \$50,000 for a class A felony and \$20,000 for a class B felony. There is no like requirement that the court make any specific findings of ability to pay, prior to imposing a fine.

Our Supreme Court has recently decided that each appellate court must make its own decision to accept discretionary review on unchallenged LFOs. *State v. Blazina*, ____Wn.2d. ____, (filed Mar. 12, 2015).

The State argues this Court should follow its previous decisions and decline to allow the Defendant to challenge for the first time on appeal, the finding regarding his ability to pay, *See: State v. Kuster*, 175 Wn.App. 420, 425, 306 P.3d 1022 (2013). *See also* RAP 2.5(a). The issue presented is not ripe for review. The Defendant may petition the court at any time for remission or modification of the payments on the basis of manifest hardship. RCW 10.01.160(4); *Baldwin*, 63 Wn.App. at 310–11, 818 P.2d 1116. The initial imposition of court costs at sentencing is predicated on the determination that the defendant either has or will have the ability to pay. RCW 10.01.160(3). Because this determination is somewhat "speculative," the time to examine a defendant's ability to pay is when the government seeks to collect the obligation. *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn.App. 514, 523–24, 216 P.3d 1097 (2009). The Defendant may

challenge the trial court's imposition of "costs" when the government seeks to collect them.

For these reasons, the Court should not consider the challenge to imposition of a public defender recoupment for the first time on appeal.

C. The No Contact Order provision of the Judgment &

Sentence is not sufficiently clear and definite, and

should be remanded for clarification.

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